Aus dem Zentrum für Neurologie und Psychiatrie

der Universität zu Köln

Klinik und Poliklinik für Neurologie Direktor: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. G. R. Fink

Relationship Between Grey Matter Volume in Subregions of the Basal Forebrain and the Cortical Acetylcholinesterase Activity in Mild Cognitive Impairment Patients due to Alzheimer's disease

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde

der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

> vorgelegt von Lara-Sophia David

> > aus Hannover

promoviert am 05. April 2024

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

Dekan: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. G. R. Fink

1. Gutachter: Professor Dr. med. J. Kukolja

2. Gutachterin: Privatdozentin Dr. rer. nat. A. K. L. Wevers

Erklärung

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Bei der Auswahl und Auswertung des Materials sowie bei der Herstellung des Manuskriptes habe ich Unterstützungsleistungen von folgenden Personen erhalten:

Herrn Professor Dr. med. Juraj Kukolja Herrn Dr. med. Nils Richter

Weitere Personen waren an der Erstellung der vorliegenden Arbeit nicht beteiligt. Insbesondere habe ich nicht die Hilfe einer Promotionsberaterin/eines Promotionsberaters in Anspruch genommen. Dritte haben von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertationsschrift stehen.

Die Dissertationsschrift wurde von mir bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt.

Der dieser Arbeit zugrunde liegenden Datensatz (MACS, Memory, Ageing and the Cholinergic System, EudraCT No. 2008-008896-32) wurde ohne meine Mitarbeit in der Zusammenarbeit zwischen dem neurologischen Institut der Universität zu Köln und dem Forschungszentrum Jülich zwischen Mai 2012 und März 2014 durchgeführt. Die Daten wurden von Herrn Professor Dr. med. Juraj Kukolja zur Verfügung gestellt. Die in dieser Arbeit durchgeführten Analysen und Berechnungen wurden nach entsprechender Anleitung durch Herrn Dr. med. Nils Richter von mir selbst ausgeführt.

Erklärung zur guten wissenschaftlichen Praxis

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die Ordnung zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und zum Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten (Amtliche Mitteilung der Universität zu Köln AM 132/2020) der Universität zu Köln gelesen habe und verpflichte mich hiermit, die dort genannten Vorgaben bei allen wissenschaftlichen Tätigkeiten zu beachten und umzusetzen.

Köln, den 28.09.2023

Unterschrift: Jara-Jophia David

Danksagung

Ich bedanke mich zuallererst bei meinen Eltern für die jahrelange Geduld und Unterstützung. Die Promotion war ein langer Weg und ich bin unendlich glücklich nun am Ende dieser Reise zu sein. Es sind viele Stunden Fleiß und Arbeit in dieses Projekt geflossen. Meine Eltern haben mich in jeder Phase und während jedem einzelnen Schritt stets bekräftigt, unterstützt und aufgebaut. Danke dafür.

Außerdem möchte ich mich bei meinem Partner Arne bedanken. Er steht in jeder Lebensphase an meiner Seite. Ein ganz besonderer Dank gilt meiner guten Freundin Clara. Sie hat mich besonders in den Endzügen der Promotion motiviert die letzten Handschläge durchzuführen und diese Dissertation abzugeben.

Ich widme diese Dissertationsschrift meinem Opa, Pito (Joachim Buff).

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	8
1. Summary	10
2. German Summary (Deutsche Zusammenfassung)	12
3. Introduction	14
3.1 MCI, Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease	14
3.2 Cholinergic Transmission, Basal Forebrain and the Cholinergic Hypothesis	15
3.3 Imaging	18
3.4 Hypotheses and Predictions	18
4. Material and Methods	20
4.1 Participants 4.1.1 Criteria for Inclusion/Exclusion in MACS Study	20 21
4.2 Neuropsychological Testing	21
4.2.1 Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)	21
4.2.2 Verbal Learning and Memory Test (VLMT)	22
4.2.3 Beck Depression Inventory (BDI)	22
4.2.4 Leistungs-Prüf-System für 50-90 Jährige, Teil 4 (LPS-4)	22
4.2.5 Brief Test of Attention (BTA)	22
4.2.6 Rey-Osterrieth-Complex-Figure Exam (ROCF)	23
4.2.7 Memory Assessment Clinics Questionnaire (MAC-Q)	23
4.2.8 Bayer Activities of Daily Life (BADL)	23
4.2.9 Trail Making Test A/B	23
4.2.10 Standard Values of the Neuropsychological Tests	24
4.3 Data Acquisition	25
4.3.2 PET-Imaging (MP4A PET)	25
4.4 Processing MRI and PET Images 4.4.1 Processing T1 MRI Images	26 26
4.4.2 Processing PET Images	26
4.5 Regions of Interest (ROI)	27
4.6 Statistical Analyses 4.6.1 Group Statistics	28 28
4.7 Manually Tracing BF masks	28

5.	Results	. 29
	5.1 Demographic Characteristics	. 29
	5.2 Neuropsychological Testing	. 29
	5.3 Group Differences in GM und AChE Activity 5.3.1 Group Differences in GM Volume	. 30 30
	5.3.2 Group Differences in AChE Activity	32
	5.4 Association Between GM and Cortical AChE Activity 5.4.1 Association Between BF GM Volume and Cortical AChE Activity	.33 33
	5.5 The Cholinergic Deficit 5.5.1 Quantifying the Cholinergic Deficit	.37 37
	5.5.2 Correlation Between the Cholinergic Deficit and GM in the NBM	37
	5.5.3 Correlation Between the Cholinergic Deficit and Neuropsychological Data	40
6.	Discussion	.41
	6.1 Discussion of the Results	.41
	6.2 Discussion of the Methods	.43
7.	References	45
8.	Appendix	51
	8.1 List of Figures	.51
	8.2 List of Tables	. 52
9.	Vorabveröffentlichungen von Ergebnissen	53

List of Abbreviations

ACh	Acetylcholine
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Αβ	Amyloid-β
BADL	Bayer activities of daily life
BDI	Beck depression inventory
BF	Basal forebrain
BfArM	Bundesamt für Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte
BfS	Bundesamt für Strahlenschutz
bpm	Beats per minute
BTA	Brief test of attention
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
С	Cognitively healthy control subjects
Ch1/2	Medial septal nuclei and vertical limb of the diagonal band of Broca
Ch3	Horizontal limb of the diagonal band of Broca
Ch4a-i	Anterior medial and intermediate nucleus basalis of Meynert
Ch4al	Anterior lateral nucleus basalis of Meynert
Ch4p	Posterior nucleus basalis of Meynert
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DR	Delayed recall
FLAIR	Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery
GM	Grey matter
k ₃	Hydrolysis rate of AChE
LPS4	Leistungs-Prüf-System für 50-90 Jährige, Teil 4
М	MCI due to AD patients
MAC-Q	Memory assessment clinics questionnaire
MACS	Memory, ageing and the cholinergic system
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
MMSE	Mini-mental state exam
mmHg	Millimetres of mercury
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute of McGill University Health Center
MP4A	¹¹ C-N-methyl-4-piperidyl acetate
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
n	Group size

NIA-AA	National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association
NBM	Nucleus basalis of Meynert
NSP	Nucleus subputaminalis
р	Significance
PET	Positron emission tomography
[¹¹ C]P4OH	N-methyl-4-piperidinol
ROCF	Rey-Osterrieth-complex-figure exam
ROI	Region of interest
SD	Standard deviation
SI	Substantia innominata
Sig. (2-tailed)	Sigma (2-tailed)
tfce	Threshold free cluster enhancement
ΤΜΤΑ	Trail making test A
ТМТВ	Trail making test B
TIV	Total intracranial volume
VBM	Voxel based morphometry
VLMT	Verbal learning and memory test
VX	Voxel
WM	White matter

1. Summary

Two thirds of all dementia cases worldwide are due to Alzheimer's disease (AD). With rising life expectancy AD cases are increasing. Therefore, it has become a focus of research in the past decades. This thesis focuses on the symptomatic "pre-dementia stage" mild cognitive impairment (MCI). AD patients show pathophysiological changes in the brain, such as accumulation of toxic species of amyloid- β (A β) and development of neurofibrillary tangles. The basal forebrain (BF) cholinergic neurons, more specifically the nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM), provide the main source of cholinergic innervation which is essential for different cognitive processes. These neurons have been found to be vulnerable to neuropathologic changes due to AD.

Using the existing memory, ageing and the cholinergic system (MACS) dataset 17 MCI due to AD patients (M) and 18 cognitively healthy control subjects (C) were included in the analyses of this project. Each participant received a neuropsychological assessment, a cranial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan and a ¹¹C-N-methyl-4-piperidyl acetate (MP4A) positron emission tomography (PET) scan for quantification of cerebral Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity. After processing the MRI and PET images I completed various statistical analyses. The grey matter (GM) volume was calculated using the MRI scans. The hypothesis, based on previous studies is that the degree of atrophy in the BF differs between M and C. I therefore hypothesised that there would be a positive correlation between the GM volume in the NBM and cortical AChE activity.

M scored significantly worse on all neuropsychological tests compared to C. The results of this thesis show differences in GM volume between M and C in the posterior nucleus basalis of Meynert (Ch4p), anterior medial and intermediate nucleus basalis of Meynert (Ch4a-i) and the hippocampus. Furthermore, there was a significant positive correlation between GM volume of Ch4p and cortical AChE activity in the hippocampus as well as the temporal lobe without the hippocampus. The atrophic regions in the BF show a significant positive correlation with AChE activity in the temporal and occipital lobe. A significant negative correlation was present between the GM of Ch4p and the "cholinergic deficit" across both groups. Interestingly, there was positive correlation between the GM in the medial septal nuclei and vertical limb of the diagonal band of Broca (Ch1/Ch2) and the "cholinergic deficit".

In conclusion, there is no significant association between the GM in the Ch4p and the cholinergic deficit within the patient group. However, larger Ch1/Ch2 volume was associated with larger "cholinergic deficit" within the M group. The results may help create predictions for

the efficacy of the pharmacological treatment of AD patients. The next goal would be to create an individualized therapy plan based on the patients' "cholinergic deficit".

2. German Summary (Deutsche Zusammenfassung)

Zwei Drittel aller Demenzfälle weltweit werden der Alzheimer-Demenz (AD) zugeschrieben. Mit zunehmender Lebenserwartung steigt die Zahl der AD-Fälle – ein Grund für eine steigende Prävalenz in der Gesellschaft. Daher hat die Erforschung der AD und dessen Vorstufen in den letzten Jahrzenten zugenommen. Diese Arbeit widmet sich dem symptomatischen prädemenziellen Stadium der leichten kognitiven Beeinträchtigung (MCI). AD-Patienten zeigen pathophysiologische Veränderungen im Gehirn, wie die Ansammlung toxischer Spezies von Amyloid- β (A β) und die Bildung von Neurofibrillenbündeln. Die cholinergen Neuronen im basalen Vorderhirn (BF), insbesondere im Nucleus Basalis Meynert (NBM), stellen die Hauptquelle der cholinergen Innervation des Cortex dar. Diese sind für verschiedene kognitive Prozesse entscheidend. Diese Neurone sind anfällig für AD-bedingte neuropathologische Veränderungen.

In diese Studie wurden 17 MCI-Patienten aufgrund von AD (M) und 18 kognitiv gesunde Kontrollprobanden (C) einbezogen, unter Verwendung des vorhandenen "Memory, Ageing and the Cholinergic System" (MACS) Datensatzes. Jeder Teilnehmer unterzog sich einer neuropsychologischen Testung sowie einer Schädel-Magnetresonanztomographie (MRI) und einer Positronen-Emissions-Tomographie (PET) mit ¹¹C-N-Methyl-4-Piperidyl Acetat (MP4A) zur Quantifizierung der Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)-Aktivität im Gehirn. Nach der Bildverarbeitung wurden verschiedene statistische Analysen durchgeführt. Das Volumen der grauen Substanz (GM) wurde aus den MRI-Scans berechnet. Auf Grundlage früherer Studien wurde die Hypothese aufgestellt, dass der Grad der Atrophie im BF zwischen M und C variiert. Weiter wird vorhergesagt, dass es eine positive Korrelation zwischen dem GM-Volumen im NBM und der kortikalen AChE-Aktivität gibt.

Die M-Gruppe schnitt in allen neuropsychologischen Tests signifikant schlechter ab als die C Gruppe. Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit zeigen Unterschiede im GM-Volumen zwischen C und M im posterioren Nucleus Basalis Meynert (Ch4p), anteriorer medialen und intermediären Nucleus Basalis Meynert (Ch4a-i) sowie im Hippocampus. Darüber hinaus gab es eine signifikante positive Korrelation zwischen dem GM-Volumen des Ch4p und der kortikalen AChE-Aktivität im Hippocampus sowie im Schläfenlappen ohne Hippocampus. Die atrophen Regionen im BF zeigten eine signifikante positive Korrelation mit der AChE-Aktivität im Schläfen- und Okzipitallappen. Es bestand eine signifikante negative Korrelation zwischen dem GM des Ch4p und dem "cholinergen Defizit" in beiden Gruppen. Interessanterweise gab es eine positive Korrelation zwischen dem GM in medialen Septumkern und dem vertikal Schenkel des diagonalen Bandes von Broca (Ch1/Ch2) und dem "cholinergen Defizit".

12

Zusammenfassend lässt sich festhalten, dass keine signifikante Verbindung zwischen dem GM im Ch4p und dem cholinergen Defizit innerhalb der Patientengruppe besteht. Ein größeres Volumen von Ch1/Ch2 hingegen war mit einem größeren "cholinergen Defizit" in der M Gruppe verbunden. Die Ergebnisse könnten dazu beitragen, Vorhersagen zur Wirksamkeit der pharmakologischen Behandlung von AD-Patienten zu treffen. Das nächste Ziel wäre die Erstellung eines individualisierten Therapieplans basierend auf dem "cholinergen Defizit" der Patienten.

3. Introduction

3.1 MCI, Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease

In our constantly growing, ageing society, dementia is becoming an increasingly apparent illness. As life expectancy is continuously increasing, especially in developed countries, the incidence of dementia is on the rise. Two thirds of all dementia cases are due to AD.⁴⁶ In 2005, around 1 to 1.5 million citizens in Germany, aged 65 and above, lived with dementia. By 2050, the number is expected to rise to between 1.5 and 3.5 million cases in the age group of 65 and above. The overall incidence ranges from under 2% in the age group of 65-69 years to over 30% in the age group of over 90 years.⁵⁸ Currently, life expectancy of a new-born girl in Germany is 83.3 years and for boys 78.5 years.⁶⁹

The rising number of dementia cases has a severe social as well as economic impact. In the early stages, the impact of dementia on daily life may be minor and relatively easy to compensate. In later stages, the patients require extensive help with their everyday activities and may need to be nursed full time. In Germany around 75% of dementia patients are cared for/nursed at home by family members.⁴⁶ Therefore, caregiving family members are an important pillar in care.⁴⁶ In 2016, the total cost of patients with dementia (from a payer's perspective) was around 34 billion. By 2060, these costs are expected to rise to 49 billion. This is up to 15% of all costs that are associated with the elderly population. In comparison, the societal cost was around 73 billion in 2016. This number is expected to rise to around 194 billion in 2060.⁴⁶ These numbers give an idea of the economic and social burden of dementia diseases. Because dementia (especially AD) has an impact on the lives of so many individuals' and their families and because it produces growing costs for the economy and health care systems, it has become a focus of research.

An increasing focus has been put on the symptomatic "pre-dementia stage" MCI. During this stage, patients suffer an objective decline in cognitive abilities, but usually do not need help with their daily activities.³⁹ This group of individuals are at higher risk to developing AD when compared to a non-MCI population.⁴⁷ This early stage of dementia due to AD is the focus of the present study.

AD is prevalent throughout the world and is the leading cause of cognitive impairment and dementia in older individuals (\geq 65 years).⁷⁰ AD patients show pathophysiological changes in the brain. These changes often develop years before clinical manifestations are observed in the patients. Changes include an accumulation of toxic species of A β as well as the

development of neurofibrillary tangles of hyperphosphorylated tau protein. Neurodegeneration in patients may result from an uncontrolled activation of microglia. This activation can lead to secretion of neurotoxins and inflammatory factors.^{60,67} Patients exhibiting such pathophysiological changes may experience different stages of memory loss and cognitive function. Over time, different neuropsychiatric symptoms can manifest themselves. Hallucination and delusion are considered symptoms of the later stages.⁷⁰

The 2011 National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) guidelines defined three phases of AD. The first phase is defined as preclinical AD. This is an asymptomatic stage, where early pathological changes take place in the brain of cognitively healthy individuals. The second phase is MCI, being the symptomatic predementia stage. The third phase is the symptomatic dementia phase.^{1,70}

3.2 Cholinergic Transmission, Basal Forebrain and the Cholinergic Hypothesis

The BF cholinergic neurons provide the main source of cholinergic innervation of the human cerebral cortex.²⁴ The cholinergic innervation is essential for different cognitive processes such as learning, memory and attention. It is specifically these neurons in the BF that are vulnerable in neuropathologic changes that cause dementia. In AD these changes being accumulation of A β and neurofibrillary tangles.²⁴ The progressive degeneration of cholinergic neurons and consequently the cognitive impairment in AD is a key characteristic of the disease. This relationship is supported by the clinical efficacy of pharmacotherapy which targets the cholinergic system.²⁵

The enzyme choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) synthesizes acetylcholine (ACh). As described above, ACh plays an essential role in cognitive function. A β is believed to cause reduction in the choline uptake and release of ACh. Various studies have shown that the accumulation of A β may lead to cholinergic synaptic loss.⁸ The loss of cholinergic activity has been the focus of research for decades. The loss in cholinergic activity initially led to the cholinergic hypothesis.

During the process of aging, our brain goes through adaptions and changes. One of these changes take place in the cholinergic system. First postulated by Bartus et al. in 1982, the "cholinergic hypothesis" suggested that AD mainly develops due to a loss of cholinergic activity, especially in the BF.³ The hypothesis was based on previous findings showing the loss of cholinergic neurons in the NBM.^{17,75} The ongoing observations, that a severe and early neuronal degeneration takes place (especially in the BF region) in AD patients was the reason

that the cholinergic system became the main target of AD pharmacotherapy.⁶¹ Today, the majority of AD treatment (pharmacological) still have the cholinergic system as a target.³⁸ As previously suggested, the cognitive decline in MCI patients seems to correlate with a dysfunction of the cholinergic system.³⁰

The NBM is located within the substantia innominata (SI) which can be found at the ventral surface of the BF.⁷³ The region was first named SI by Theodore Meynert.⁴⁵ Retrograde horseradish peroxidase tracer experiments were done on primates in the 1970s which helped to identify that cortical cholinergic innervation mainly has its origins in the NBM. With the help of various histochemical methods, Mesulam and his colleagues managed to identify different cholinergic loci within the BF. They then introduced the nomenclature Ch1-Ch4, which is still used today. Regions in the BF include Ch1/2 as well as the horizontal limb of the diagonal band of Broca (Ch3). The Ch4 region was described as the NBM, known as the cholinergic component of the BF.^{41,43} The Ch4 region is further divided into Ch4a-i, the anterior lateral NBM (Ch4al) and Ch4p. Today the SI is often described as a group of magnocellular neurons in the BF, synonymous with the NBM.⁷⁶

See *figure 1* for a projectory map of where the various cholinergic Ch4 regions project tobased on identification of ACh rich fibers (taken from Liu et al.).⁴¹ The use of the figure shown below is explicitly permitted by the authors. The article was distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License permitting the use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.⁴¹



Figure 1: Projected innervation map of the different Ch4 regions (taken from Liu et al.).⁴¹ Based on the findings of Mesulam et al., 1983 and 1988).^{42,43}

Today, AChE inhibitors are the standard pharmacotherapy options used for the treatment of AD. AChE inhibitors such as galantamin, donepezil and rivastigmin increase the concentration of ACh in the synaptic cleft by blocking AChE, thus inhibiting the degradation of ACh.¹³ They have shown to be effective in improving cognitive function in patients with mild to moderate AD.⁶ Using AChE inhibitors in MCI patients continues to be controversial. In a meta-analysis, the positive effect of AChE inhibitors to help to prevent the transition from MCI to AD could not be confirmed.⁷ One possible explanation for the incongruent findings in MCI patients is that the "cholinergic deficit" in these patients is not equally present. This notion was supported by previous studies which have shown a positive effect of AChE inhibitors on memory performance and the related neural activation in MCI (due to AD) patients. The potential effect depended mainly on the integrity of the patients' cholinergic system.⁵²

3.3 Imaging

Using the tracer MP4A in PET we were able to assess the integrity of the cholinergic system in vivo. This method allows the measurement of the activity rate of AChE (the enzyme which breaks down ACh). Using this information, the integrity of the cholinergic system can be assessed. This technique has been frequently used in previous studies and has previously shown a reduction of cortical AChE activity in AD patients.^{32,66} In MCI due to AD patients a decline in cortical AChE activity has been observed, which was most apparent in temporal regions. This led to the conclusion that a dysfunction of the cholinergic system is an early event in MCI due to AD and later AD stages.³⁰

Using magnetic MRI, it is possible to assess the GM volume of the BF nuclei. As one of the first studies in this field, Teipel and his colleagues suggested in 2005 that a signal decrease in the BF area could be identified, measured by an MRI technique.⁷³ Changes in BF nuclei, detected by MRI, could later be confirmed.^{26,37} Current literature suggests that GM volume of the BF nuclei (and of the hippocampus) could be a predictive factor for the conversion of MCI to AD.⁹ In 2004, Herholz and his colleagues postulated that changes in the amygdaloid and cortical cholinergic system are an early event in AD, instead of a consequence of neurodegeneration as previously proposed.³³ Schmitz and colleagues found that pathological changes in the BF were detectable before changes in the entorhinal cortex and therefore suggested that BF pathology precedes and predicts cortical (entorhinal) changes.⁶³ Using MRI in this study, it was possible to quantify the GM volume and assess the difference in volume between MCI due to AD patients (M) and cognitively healthy control subjects (C).

3.4 Hypotheses and Predictions

The intention of this study was to find a predictor of cholinergic impairment, which could be used for an individual adaption of cholinergic therapy. The study investigated whether the cholinergic impairment could be predicted by measuring the volume of the BF nuclei. A group of C were compared to a group of M. Since it has been previously discovered that there is a difference in cholinergic neurotransmission between MCI and cognitively healthy participants,⁶⁶ the hypothesis is that M will show a lower activity of AChE, which will be measured using MP4A PET imaging.^{30,56}

The main hypothesis is that the BF volume is decreased in M, compared to C, and that the degree of atrophy is associated with the activity of cortical AChE, measured with MP4A PET imaging. The hypothesis is that the GM volume of BF nuclei negatively correlates with the

activity of AChE. Thus, the prediction is a positive correlation between GM volume in the NBM and cortical AChE activity.

A further hypothesis is that the GM atrophy can be mainly found in the Ch4p region of the Mesulam nomenclature, thus in the posterior parts of the NBM. This hypothesis is based on studies showing that the main degeneration of cholinergic neurons is present in the posterior part of the basal forebrain, the NBM (See section above: *The Basal Forebrain and the Cholinergic Hypothesis*).⁷³ I also hypothesise that there is a correlation of the NBM GM volume and the AChE activity within the patient group.

The intention of this study is to help further understand the lack of efficacy of AChE inhibitors in MCI patients and suggest improvements for pharmacotherapy, especially in early stages of AD patients. Please note that parts of this thesis have previously been published as a paper.⁵⁴ This thesis goes beyond the analyses published in the paper and addresses different research questions.

4. Material and Methods

4.1 Participants

Existing data sets from the larger Memory, Ageing and the Cholinergic System (MACS) study (EudraCT No. 2008-008896-32) Cologne-Jülich were analysed. Between May 2012 and March 2014, a total of 20 patients, diagnosed with MCI due to AD, were recruited. As a control group, 22 age-matched C were recruited. The MACS study was approved by local and federal authorities such as the Bundesamt für Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte (BfArM) and the Bundesamt für Strahlenschutz (BfS). The study was approved by the ethics committee of the medical faculty of the University of Cologne under the application number 09-035. In accordance with the declaration of Helsinki, written consent was obtained prior to the study from all participants.

All 20 MCI patients had no neurologic or psychiatric comorbidities at the time of recruitment (9 female, 11 male, aged 54-80). Two patients were excluded due to severe subcortical white matter lesions. A third patient withdrew consent during the study. Thus, 17 M were included in the final data set. The 17 M had positive cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) biomarkers of AD pathology⁵⁴, therefore completing the criteria for a high likelihood of MCI due to AD, as it has been previously described by Albert et al.¹ CSF was obtained via lumbar puncture. Positive CSF amyloid pathology was defined as $A\beta_{1-42}$ <550 pg/ml or a tau/ $A\beta_{1-42}$ ratio >0.52.⁵² See 4.1.1 for criteria regarding inclusion or exclusion of healthy and control participants.

22 C were recruited from the general community (8 female, 14 male, aged 53-80). Within the healthy control group, 18 participants were included for analysis in this project. Two of the participants had severe metal dental artefacts in their MRI and thus had to be excluded. One participant was excluded due to severe cerebral atrophy and another due to technical difficulties and consequently failure of PET acquisition. Finally, 17 M and 18 C entered the analyses for this project.

The MACS study consisted of an image characterization stage, which included MRI and a PET scan using a cholinergic marker (MP4A – see 4.3.2). Subsequently, the study consisted of a pharmacological challenge during which patients received 3mg rivastigmine or placebo as a single dose for oral administration in a double-blind cross-over design. The results of the pharmacological stage have been reported in Richter et al. (2018).⁵² In this study, only the results from the image characterization stage were of interest. All patients received a physical neurological exam, which was performed by a trained neurologist (N.R., J.K.). In addition, all

participants received a neuropsychological assessment, where a variety of previously tested exams were conducted (see 4.2). The neuropsychological testing and MRI data were collected over a time period of two months. The PET exam was conducted within an average of 31 days of the MRI exam (with a standard deviation (SD) of 35 days).

4.1.1 Criteria for Inclusion/Exclusion in MACS Study

The participants (both M and C) had to be between 50 and 80 years of age in order to be included. In addition, the participants were required to have normal findings in the neurological and physical exam. For example, instable heart or vascular diseases, chronic neurological or psychiatric conditions led to exclusion. During the physical examination, the heart rate had to be between 50 and 100 beats per minute (bpm), systolic blood pressure between 100 and 160 millimetres of mercury (mmHg) and diastolic blood pressure between 50 and 100 mmHg. Another exclusion factor was medication acting in the central nervous system. Finally, written consent had to be at hand.

4.2 Neuropsychological Testing

The neuropsychological testing was completed by members of the lab group "Cognitive Ageing and Dementia", which at the time was under the leadership of Prof. Dr. med. Juraj Kukolja. The neuropsychological testing consisted of a comprehensive composition of exams. All neuropsychological tests were performed in the German language. See *table 1* (Section 2.2.10) for the standard values of the neuropsychological tests.

4.2.1 Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)

The mini-mental state examination (MMSE) is a well-established test which requires only 5-10 minutes to perform.²² The test is divided into two sections, the first of which only requires verbal responses. The questions cover and address the participants' orientation, memory and attention. The second part focuses on the participants' ability to follow commands (written as well as verbal), name items, write a spontaneous sentence and copy a polygon structure. The maximum score is 30. In our study MCI was defined as a score greater than 24 in the MMSE.

4.2.2 Verbal Learning and Memory Test (VLMT)

The verbal learning and memory test (VLMT) is the German version of the Rey auditory verbal learning test.³¹ It is a word learning neuropsychological test, which consists of two 15-word lists. The participant receives five presentations of list A (15 words) and is immediately asked to recall as many words as possible. A second list consisting of 15 words (list B) follows with the subsequent recall phase. Then the patient is asked to recall list A. Delayed recall (DR) as well as recognition are tested. For our study, MCI was defined as a result of over 1.5 SD under the norm in the section "DR" of the VLMT. Particularly interesting for our analyses is the DG5 (fifth repetition of list A) and the DG7 (delayed recall of list A after about 30 minutes).

4.2.3 Beck Depression Inventory (BDI)

Beck depression inventory (BDI) consists of 21 multiple-choice questions and is widely used to measure the severity of depression. The items address typical symptoms of a depression such as hopelessness, guilt feelings, as well as physical symptoms such as weight loss. The inventory can be used for self-rating as well as interviewer rating. The BDI was first introduced in 1961.⁴ In this study the BDI-5 was used, a simplified version of the original BDI.⁶²

4.2.4 Leistungs-Prüf-System für 50-90 Jährige, Teil 4 (LPS-4)

The Leistungs-Prüf-System für 50-90 Jährige, Teil 4 (LPS-4) is a German, multipart test system, designed to capture the intelligence performance via different primary skills.³⁶ For this study, the LPS-4 was mainly used to analyse the logical thinking skills by recognizing patterns. The examinees were shown 40 rows of letters and/or numbers. In each row, there was one mistake. The goal was to identify the mistake(maximum number of points = 40).

4.2.5 Brief Test of Attention (BTA)

The brief test of attention (BTA) is designed to examine and measure the auditory divided attention.⁶⁴ The test included two different forms. The first one includes 10 lists of letters and numbers (increasing from 4 to 18 items) which are read aloud to the examinee. Participants had to count the amount of numbers read aloud. The second list is similarly constructed, but now participants had to count the number of letters read aloud. The number of correctly monitored lists are added together. The maximum score was 20. Subjects are not asked to recall which number or letters were said, only how many.

4.2.6 Rey-Osterrieth-Complex-Figure Exam (ROCF)

The Rey-Osterrieth-Complex-Figure exam (ROCF) was first described in 1941, by Rey, further developed by Osterrieth in 1944. Translated from French to English in 1993 this test asks the examinee to reproduce a complex line drawing.¹⁴ First, the examinee is asked to copy the figure free hand. Next, he/she is asked to immediately recall the figure and draw it from memory. After a time span of 20-30 minutes, the examinee is asked to draw the figure from memory, in form of a delayed recall. As many different cognitive functions are needed to complete this test, the ROCF test can be used to assess memory, visuospatial abilities, attention as well as executive functions.

4.2.7 Memory Assessment Clinics Questionnaire (MAC-Q)

The memory assessment clinics questionnaire (MAC-Q) can be used to evaluate an agedependent decrease in memory function through self-evaluation. The examinee is asked to evaluate 6 different memory performances from everyday life (the 6th of which is counted twice). The examinee has to evaluate whether the memory performance is a lot better today (1 point) than compared to the time of fourth grade or a lot worse than during that time (5 points). All points are added (max. 35) and then evaluated.¹⁵

4.2.8 Bayer Activities of Daily Life (BADL)

The Bayer activities of daily life (B-ADL) questionnaire was designed on an international level to identify whether patients have difficulties with daily activities based on cognitive impairment.³⁴ The questionnaire has 25 questions which are meant to be answered with a scale ranging from 1 (never) to 10 (always). The sum is divided by the number of questions (25). The final value is between 1 and 10. The questionnaire can be used for self-evaluation or can be filled out by relatives or people close to the patient.¹⁹

4.2.9 Trail Making Test A/B

The trail making test A/B (TMT A/B) is a test used to evaluate the eye-hand coordination as well as attention and cognitive flexibility. During test A participants are asked to quickly join the dots from number 1 to 25 an A4 paper. They are not supposed to take the pen off the paper. During test B patients are asked to join the dots between numbers 1-13 and letters A to L (alternating sequence), also not taking the pen off the paper and as quickly as possible. The

time taken to complete the task in seconds is recorded as the result of the exam.⁷⁴ Several patients were not able to complete the TMT B due to cognitive impairment.

Source	Test	Age	Normal	MCI	Pathological
Lezak et al., 2004.40	MMSE		27-30	24-27	< 24
Helmstaedter et al.,	VLMT		≥7	< 7	
2001. ³¹					
Schmitt et al.,	BDI-V		0-35	0-35	> 35
2006. ⁶²					
Horn, 1983. ³⁶	LPS4	> 50	≥ 12	≥ 12	< 12
Schretlen et al.,	BTA	50-59	12	12	< 12
1996. ⁶⁴		60-69	11	11	< 11
		70-80	10	10	< 10
Fastenau et al.,	ROCF	50-59	10		< 10
1999. ²⁰		60-69	9		< 9
		70-80	8		< 8
	MAC-Q				Not specified
Erzigkeit et al.,	BADL		≤ 5	> 5	> 5
2001. ¹⁹					
Derived from the	TMT A	F < 70y	\leq 64 sec		> 64 sec
standardisation	according	F ≥ 70 y	\leq 71 sec		> 71 sec
data from	to	M < 70 y	\leq 65 sec		> 65 sec
Tombaugh et al.	CERAD+	M ≥ 70 y	\leq 74 sec		> 74 sec
2004. ⁷⁴					
See TMT A	TMT B	F < 70y	\leq 163 sec		> 163 sec
	according	F ≥ 70 y	\leq 226 sec		> 226 sec
	to	M < 70 y	\leq 194 sec		> 194 sec
	CERAD+	M ≥ 70 y	\leq 239 sec		> 239 sec

4.2.10 Standard Values of the Neuropsychological Tests

Table 1: Standard values of the neuropsychological tests (*F* = female, *M* = male, sec = seconds)

4.3 Data Acquisition

4.3.1 MR-Imaging

High-resolution T1-weighted images (MDEFT3D; repetition time (TR) 1930 ms; inversion time (TI) 650 ms; echo time (TE) 5.8 ms; flip angle 18°; 128 sagittal slices; resolution $1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.25 \text{ mm}^3$), T2-weighted images (TR 3200 ms; TE 458 ms; 176 sagittal slices; resolution $1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.0 \text{ mm}^3$), and fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) images (TR 8040 ms; TI 2400 ms; TE 121 ms; flip angle 150°; 36 axial slices; slice thickness 4 mm, in-plane resolution, $0.46875 \times 0.46875 \text{ mm}^2$) were acquired using a 3T Trio (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) scanner.⁵⁵

4.3.2 PET-Imaging (MP4A PET)

MP4A

MP4A is a radio activated marked lipophilic ACh-analogon which has the ability to pass the blood-brain barrier.⁵¹ Inside the brain tissue, a part of the MP4A is specifically hydrolysed by AChE into N-methyl-4-piperidinol ([¹¹C]P4OH). The metabolite MP4OH, which is hydrophilic, cannot easily pass the blood brain barrier and accumulates in the region where the hydrolysation process took place. This enables the measurement of cerebral AChE activity. Another part of the MP4A is washed out back into the blood. The process described above can be explained using a 3-compartment model. K₁ describes the rate at which the tracer passes through the blood-brain barrier, k₂ describes the wash out rate at which the tracer leaves the brain again and k₃ describes the hydrolysis rate of AChE (k₃). Therefore, k₃ is the rate at which the enzyme is active.^{32,49}



Figure 2: Chemical structure of MP4A.⁴⁹

Production and Administration of the Tracer

The tracer MP4A was similarly synthesized as described in previous studies and protocols, with some minor adjustments.^{30,32} MP4A was produced by the Radiochemistry group at the Max-Planck-Institut for Metabolism Research under the leadership of Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Bernd Neumaier. The administration was performed via intravenous injection – the examinees received a bolus between 192 and 556MBq of [¹¹C]MP4A.⁵⁵

PET Scanning

PET-scanning was conducted using an ECAT HRRT scanner (CPS Innovations, Knoxville TN, USA) with a maximum of 2.4mm transaxial and 2.0mm axial.⁵² The scanning was done in a supine position with the examinee's eyes being closed and dimmed light. The actual scanning started with the injection of the tracer and took 60 minutes. The PET-scans were obtained by use of the protocol as described by Haense and her colleagues.³⁰

4.4 Processing MRI and PET Images

4.4.1 Processing T1 MRI Images

By processing the MRI Images using voxel-based morphometry (VBM) we were able to assess GM volume. VBM was used as implemented in the CAT12 toolbox in the SPM12 programme.^{23,68} The first step was to divide the T1 MRI images into different tissue classes: GM, white matter (WM) and CSF. Next, we spatially normalized the images to Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) of McGill University Health Center (MNI) 152 space using DARTEL, an algorithm for high-dimensional registration.^{2,35} The next step consisted of correcting the GM maps for non-linear normalisation (volume change) which essentially meant applying a Jacobian determinant. The total intracranial volume (TIV) was not included in subsequent analyses using the GM values which we obtained using VBM. I used pre-processed T1 MRI images in this study to complete my analyses. For further information of pre-processing please see the paper published by Richter et. al.⁵⁴

4.4.2 Processing PET Images

PET imaging was performed to assess regional AChE activity. The activity can be assessed by quantifying the hydrolysis rate of MP4A (k3) at the individual voxel (vx) level. This method has been previously described.^{52,55} Please see the paper published by Richter et al. in 2018

for detailed information on the processing of the PET images.⁵² A 3-parameter compartment model, as described under 4.3.2, implemented in the VINCI software, was used to estimate k3 of MP4a and therefore assess AChE activity.³² The k3-maps which were created by using this model were then coregistered to the MRI T1 images and subsequently normalised to the MNI space. See 4.5 below for further information of how the regions of interest (ROI) were further defined.

Since the study was interested in the "cholinergic deficit" of the MCI due to AD patients, the inter-individual differences in the spatial pattern of the MP4a hydrolysis rate (k3) were assessed. In order to compare the reduction in AChE activity, the "cholinergic deficit" was determined by transforming the AChE maps of each patient (z-transformation). The mean of the control group was subtracted from the map as well as dividing by the SD of the control group:

Z = <u>(AChE activity_{participant} – mean AChE activity_{control group})</u>

SD of AChE activity_{control group}

The product of the average z-score (of vx where AChE activity was more than two SD from the mean of the control group) and the volume was defined as the measure of the cholinergic deficit.⁵⁴

4.5 Regions of Interest (ROI)

Using a cytoarchitectonic map in MNI standard space, GM values of different subareas of the BF were extracted. The division of the BF into ROI was completed as described by Kilimann et al.³⁷ Ch1 and Ch2 were grouped together into a single ROI. Ch3 represents another ROI. Ch4a-i, Ch4al and Ch4p were separated into individual ROIs.³⁷ The hippocampal ROI was derived from the Jülich Histological Atlas.¹⁸ The different subregions of the hippocampus were combined (except the entorhinal cortex), creating a single ROI. For further information see the paper prepublished to this thesis by Richter et al. in 2022.⁵⁴ Similarly the cortical ROI for each of the cerebral lobes were defined using the MNI structural atlas.⁵⁴

Analyses with the cortical k3 values used the same divisions as described above, using the six subregions of the Kilimann mask from 2014, based on the nomenclature of Mesulam.^{37,43}

4.6 Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses on non-imaging data were performed using SPSS (Version 24.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

4.6.1 Group Statistics

In order to analyse the distribution of the parameters, Shapiro-Wilks tests were used. For data that showed a normal distribution, group differences were analysed using independent samples T-tests and Pearson correlations. For data that did not show a normal distribution, Spearman coefficients and Mann-Whitney were used to assess group differences. Since the sample-size was relatively small, the process of bootstrapping was used as implemented in SPSS. This is a process to test the reliability as well as stability of models. Bootstrapping relies on random sampling with replacement. In our analyses, it was performed with 5000 permutations (rearranging the data set). The results are presented with 95%-confidence intervals.

4.7 Manually Tracing BF masks

In order to validate the GM values obtained (using the cytoarchitectonic map) for the Ch 1/2 region, the BF masks were manually traced according to the protocol as described by Butler et al.¹¹ FSLview was used to manually trace masks on T₁-images using different anatomical landmarks which were derived from a histology-based protocol.¹¹ The masks were created independently once by me and once by Nils Richter.

5. Results

5.1 Demographic Characteristics

To analyse the age distribution, a Shapiro-Wilks-Test was performed.⁶⁵ Since the data for age of the participants showed a normal distribution an independent t-test for group comparisons was used. The two groups did not differ with respect to age ($t_{(33)}$ = -1.014, p = 0.318, *table 2*). Within the C group, 11 of the participants were male and 7 female. Of the 17 M included in the study, 9 were male and 8 female. The mean average age of C was 65.2 years with a SD of 6.7 years (range was from 53 to 80 years). The M group showed an average age of 67.5 years with a range from 54 to 80 years (*Table 2*). The group size is represented by n.

	Group	n	Mean	SD	Standard
					Error Mean
Age	С	18	65.22222	6.673526	1.572965
	М	17	67.47059	6.423761	1.557991

Table 2: Demographic characteristics of the study population (n = Group Size)

5.2 Neuropsychological Testing

The M group (n=17) performed significantly worse than the C group (n=18). See *Table 3* below for details. Groups did not differ in terms of depressive symptoms, assessed using the BDI $(t_{(33)} = -0.112, p = 0.911)$. All participants scored below 35 points on the BDI and could therefore be included in the study. Over 35 points would have been a pathological score, equivalent to a moderate depression. The TMT-B was excluded from analyses, as a number of patients who were not able to complete the task.

	C		Ι	М	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
MMSE	29.50	0.62	25.94	1.60	<0.001
VLMT (DR)	11.11	2.19	2.35	2.03	<0.001
LPS4	24.78	4.01	16.24	4.45	<0.001
BTA	17.94	1.16	14.59	2.67	<0.001
ROCF (DR)	22.83	3.67	5.53	3.37	<0.001
B-ADL	1.44	0.78	2.29	1.10	0.013
TMT-A (sec)	42.83	11.09	71.12	29.05	0.001

Table 3: Neuropsychological testing results (significant results are shown in bold)

5.3 Group Differences in GM und AChE Activity

5.3.1 Group Differences in GM Volume

First, the degree of GM atrophy in C and M was analysed and group differences were compared. *Figure 3* below shows the significant group differences in GM volume between the C and M. The largest group differences in GM volume could be found in the mesial and medial temporal lobe, as well as the inferior frontal gyrus and the precuneus (parietal lobe).



Figure 3: Group differences in GM volume (age as a Covariate, 8mm smoothing and threshold free cluster enhancement (tfce) corrected p < 0.05)

Figure 4 below shows the group differences in GM within the BF mask.³⁷ The blue shading shows the entire BF and the red shading shows the significant differences in GM volume within the mask. Significant GM volume reductions in M compared to C were found in the posterior BF (NBM).



Figure 4: Significant group differences (red) in GM volume within the entire BF (blue) mask (age as a covariate, 4mm smoothing and tfce corrected p < 0.05)

Next, the group differences in GM volume within the BF were analysed. *Table 4* shows the results of the t-tests for independent samples. The Ch4p showed a significant difference in GM volume between M and C. GM volume was also significantly decreased in M compared to C in the Ch4a-i as well as in the hippocampus.

ROI	C (n = 18)		M (n = 17)		p-Value
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Ch4p	0.76276	0.066448	0.6343	0.100118	< 0.001
Ch4a-i	0.55934	0.047814	0.51049	0.075302	0.031
Ch3	0.69836	0.061266	0.65963	0.105259	0.198
Nucleus subputaminalis	0.74663	0.093078	0.68957	0.121294	0.127
(NSP) and Ch4al					
Interstitial nuclei	0.30579	0.051216	0.27335	0.069878	0.125
Ch1/Ch2	0.83898	0.086595	0.80452	0.108901	0.306
Hippocampus	0.619	0.049	0.539	0.067	<0.001

 Table 4: Group differences in GM volume (significant results are shown in bold)
 Image: Shown in bold

5.3.2 Group Differences in AChE Activity

There were significant between group differences in AChE activity in the temporal, occipital and parietal lobes with M showing less activity than C (see *table 5* and *figure 5*).

Cortical k3	C (n = 18)		M (n = 17)		p-Value
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Frontal Lobe	0.089	0.010	0.084	0.008	0.085
Temporal Lobe	0.094	0.010	0.078	0.007	< 0.001
Parietal Lobe	0.076	0.008	0.067	0.008	0.005
Occipital Lobe	0.072	0.009	0.062	0.007	0.001

Table 5: Group differences in AChE activity (significant results are shown in bold)

Figure 5 below shows regions with significant differences in AChE activity between the two groups. The largest differences were seen in the temporal and occipital lobes as M showed less AChE activity than C.



Figure 5: Group differences in AChE activity (age as a covariate, 8mm smoothing and tfce corrected p < 0.05)

5.4 Association Between GM and Cortical AChE Activity

5.4.1 Association Between BF GM Volume and Cortical AChE Activity

The association between GM volume in the BF (the entire ROI), as well as subregions that show signs of grey matter atrophy within the BF, with cortical AChE activity was investigated. *Table 6* below shows the results. There was a significant correlation, across both groups, between GM volume in atrophic regions within the BF and k3 in the temporal lobe excluding the hippocampus, the hippocampus and the occipital lobe (significant results are in bold). There was no significant association between GM volume of the entire BF (without considering which areas are atrophic) and the k3 of the different lobes.

GM	Correlation	Cortical k3	Cortical k3					
		Temp	Temp	Parietal	Frontal	Occipital		
		NoHippocampu	Hippocamp					
		s	us					
GM in	Correlation	0.191	0.036	-0.018	-0.092	0.129		
entire BF	Coefficent							
	Sig. (2-	0.271	0.838	0.917	0.597	0.46		
	tailed)							
	n	35	35	35	35	35		
GM in	Correlation	0.459	0.345	0.128	-0.04	0.336		
atrophic	Coefficient							
regions	Sig. (2-	0.006	0.043	0.465	0.818	0.049		
of BF	tailed)							
	n	35	35	35	35	35		

Table 6: Results of the correlation between GM volume of the BF and cortical k3 Activity (TempNoHippocampus = Temporal lobe without the Hippocampus, TempHippocampus = Hippocampus. Significant results are shown in bold)

Next the study analysed the correlation between Ch4p volume and cortical AChE activity, Ch4p being the cholinergic center of the NBM.^{41,43} *Figure 6* below shows areas with significant correlations of GM volume in atrophic parts of the Ch4p with cortical k3 activity. Significant correlations between GM volume from atrophic parts of Ch4p and cortical k3 were found in the right medial temporal gyrus.



Figure 6: Significant areas where the GM volume from atrophic parts of Ch4p correlates with cortical k3 (age as a covariate, 8mm smoothing and tfce corrected p<0.05).

5.4.2 Association Between GM in Subregions of the BF and Cortical AChE Activity

In the next step, the association between different subregions within the BF across both groups and the cortical AChE activity was analysed. See *table 7* below for the results. There was a significant positive correlation between Ch4p and the cortical AChE activity in the hippocampus ($r_{(35)} = 0.386$, p = 0.022) as well as in the temporal lobe without the hippocampus ($r_{(35)} = 0.418$, p = 0.012). The GM volume in Ch1/2 did not show a correlation with cortical k3 activity across the groups. See *table 7* below for a detailed list of all results.

BF GM	Correlation	Cortical k3 Activity					
		Temp.	Temp.	Parietal	Frontal	Occipital	
		(NoHippoc	(Hippoca				
		ampus)	mpus)				
Ch4p	Correlation	0.418	0.386	0.041	-0.041	0.251	
	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.012	0.022	0.814	0.816	0.146	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	
Ch4a-i	Correlation	0.22	0.011	0.091	0.014	0.176	
	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.204	0.949	0.603	0.936	0.313	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	
Ch3	Correlation	0.166	-0.02	-0.012	-0.043	0.106	
	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.341	0.911	0.945	0.808	0.546	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	
Ch4al/NSP	Correlation	0.153	-0.099	-0.01	-0.072	0.11	
	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.38	0.57	0.955	0.681	0.528	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	
Interstitial	Correlation	0.134	-0.06	0.02	0.057	0.0989	
nuclei	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.444	0.732	0.911	0.746	0.611	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	
Ch1 /Ch2	Correlation	-0.012	-0.069	-108	-0.127	-0.069	
	Coefficient						
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.944	0.692	0.536	0.468	0.694	
	n	35	35	35	35	35	

Table 7: Results of the correlation between GM volume of subregions of the BF and the corticalk3 activity (TempNoHippocampus = Temporal lobe without the Hippocampus,TempHippocampus = Hippocampus, significant results are shown in bold).

5.5 The Cholinergic Deficit

5.5.1 Quantifying the Cholinergic Deficit

As described in 4.4.2 the "cholinergic deficit" was quantified for each patient. The Z-values of the k3 in the M group were compared to the Z-values of the C group (the difference). Using the Z-values, it was possible to determine the individual deviation in AChE activity in each patient from the mean of the control group. *Figure 7* shows five representative examples of the cholinergic deficit in the M group. While there was substantial inter-individual variation in the spatial patterns, the "cholinergic deficit" in MCI often involved temporal and parietal regions.⁵⁴



Figure 7: Representative examples of the "cholinergic deficit" in the M group. The colour scale depicts the deviation in SD from the mean of the group. Below is the scale: Left is the colour and the right column shows the Z-value (deviation from the Z-value from the C group).



5.5.2 Correlation Between the Cholinergic Deficit and GM in the NBM

Next, the correlation between the cholinergic deficit (see 4.4.2) and GM volume in the NBM was analysed. The cholinergic deficit was calculated for each individual separately. Across groups, there was a significant negative correlation ($r_{(35)} = -0.476$, p = 0.004) between GM volume of the Ch4p and the "cholinergic deficit" (*Table 8*). Lower GM volume (greater atrophy) in the Ch4p was associated with a larger "cholinergic deficit".

Correlations				
			Ch1/Ch2	Ch4p
Spearman's	Vx_Z2_k3_crt	Correlation	-0.064	-0.476
rho		Coefficient		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.717	0.004
		n	35	35

Table 8: Correlation between the cholinergic deficit and the GM volume of the NBM $(Vx_Z2_k3_crt = The number of subthreshold Z-values (Z < -2) in the cortex that were subtracted. Significant results are shown in bold).$

Next, the cholinergic deficit of the two groups was separately compared with GM volume in the NBM. In the C group, *there was* no significant correlation of the cholinergic deficit and different areas of the NBM (Table 9, Figure 9). By contrast, there was a significant positive correlation between the cholinergic deficit and GM volume in Ch1/Ch2 in the M group (Table 10, Figure 8).

Correlation			GM in NBM	
			Ch1/Ch2	Ch4p
Spearman's	Vx_Z2_k3_crt	Correlation	-0.201	-0.082
rho		Coefficient		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.423	0.748
		n	18	18

Table 9: Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of C and GM volume of the NBM $(Vx_Z2_k3_crt = The number of subthreshold Z-values (Z < -2) in the cortex that were subtracted)$

Correlation			GM in NBM	
			Ch1/Ch2	Ch4p
Spearman's rho	Vx_Z2_k3_crt	Correlation	0.561	0.118
		Coefficient		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.019	0.653
		n	17	17

Table 10: Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of M and GM volume of the NBM $(Vx_Z2_k3_crt = The number of subthreshold Z-values (Z < -2) in the cortex that were subtracted. Significant results are shown in bold.)$

Figure 8 below shows a scatter plot with the correlation between the cholinergic deficit and the GM volume in Ch1/Ch2 of the NBM.



Figure 8: Graph showing the correlation between the cholinergic deficit (number of vx with Z < -2, shown on y-axis) and GM volume in Ch1/2 (shown on x axis). Red dots are M and blue dots C.

GM – Rel. units

Z-Number of vx

Figure 8 above clearly shows the difference in the correlation between the two groups. Here the positive correlation between the cholinergic deficit and the GM volume in the Ch1/Ch2 area of the NBM is demonstrated. The blue dots, the C group, show a different distribution.

5.5.3 Correlation Between the Cholinergic Deficit and Neuropsychological Data

Next, the correlation between the individual cholinergic deficit and the neuropsychological test results (see 3.2.) was analysed. There was a significant negative correlation between the cholinergic deficit and the results of the MMSE and the LPS4 exam (see *table 11* below for the results).

Correlat			Neuropsychological Test					
ions								
			VLMT7	MMSE	LPS4	BTA	RO_CF	TMT-A
Spear-	Vx_Z2	Correlation	-0.133	-0.608	-0.493	-0.254	0.17	0.272
man's	_k3_c	coefficient						
rho	rt							
		Sig. (2-	0.624	0.01	0.044	0.324	0.515	0.29
		tailed)						
		n	16	17	17	17	17	17

Table 11: Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of the M group and different neuropsychological tests ($Vx_Z2_k3_crt$ = the number of subthreshold Z-values (Z < -2) in the cortex that were subtracted. Significant results are shown in bold.)

6. Discussion

As predicted, the M group scored significantly worse on all neuropsychological tests than the C group. Furthermore, this study was able to demonstrate that M compared to C show different degrees of GM atrophy within the BF nuclei. The Ch4p, Ch4a-i and the hippocampus showed significantly less GM volume in M when compared to C. Also, the data show a significant between-group difference in cortical AChE activity in the temporal, occipital and parietal lobes with M showing less activity than C.

This study was able to show a significant positive correlation between Ch4p GM volume and the cortical AChE activity in the temporal lobe (with and without the hippocampus). In addition, the GM volume in atrophic areas of the BF correlated with AChE activity in the temporal (with and without the hippocampus) and occipital lobe.

This study was able to demonstrate that the "cholinergic deficit" in MCI involves temporal and parietal regions. There was a significant negative correlation between GM volume in the Ch4p and the "cholinergic deficit" across both groups. By contrast, there was a positive correlation between the GM volume in Ch1/Ch2 and the "cholinergic deficit", indicating that larger GM volume in these regions was associated with less cortical AChE activity.

6.1 Discussion of the Results

This study found significantly lower GM volume in the CH4p, Ch4a-i and the hippocampus in the M group compared to the C group. This is congruent with prior MRI-based studies, which have shown that there is a GM volume decline of the cholinergic BF nuclei from prodromal to clinical stages of AD.^{26,37} Furthermore, it has been shown that especially the Ch4p shows early volume reductions, already in the MCI due to AD stage.^{27,37}

The significant positive correlation between the GM volume in Ch4p and the AChE activity in the temporal lobe further undermines the hypothesis that GM volume predicts the AChE activity. This idea supported by previous data, showing that Ch4p neurons are the main source of cholinergic innervation of the cortex.⁴¹⁻⁴³ Thus, the conclusion is that GM volume (the degree of atrophy in the BF) can be used to make a statement about the integrity of the cholinergic system.

Similarly, previous studies using Fluordesoxyglucose-PET imaging have shown that atrophy in the BF, identified using MRI, is associated with a reduction in cortical metabolic activity in MCI patients.²⁸ In patients with subjective cognitive decline, a significant association was found

between the volume of the Ch4p and the right precuneal glucose hypometabolism detected by Fluordesoxyglucose-PET.⁵⁹ The precuneus is a region that shows alterations in early stages of AD in terms of decreasing glucose metabolism.¹⁰ These data together with our findings corroborate the suggestion that changes in BF GM volume affect neural function in distant cortical areas.

As mentioned above, the data suggests that BF GM volume can be a predictor of cortical AChE activity. Furthermore, it could potentially be used to predict the development of early stages of AD, maybe even stages prior to MCI. This suggestion is supported by previous studies, which have shown that GM atrophy in the hippocampus and BF (as well as other AD-related regions) can be predictive of an increased risk for conversion from MCI to AD.⁹ This technique may potentially be implemented in clinical routine, as VBM can be used with regular T1 weighted MRI images. This potential predictor could be combined with other early disease-relevant changes such as the transcriptomatic signature sensitive to prodromal AD.⁵ Together, it may be possible to identify an individual risk-profile. This may help develop potential therapeutic targets at the MCI stage.⁵

Previous studies analysing predictors of the efficacy of AChE inhibitors have suggested that hippocampal volume as well as an indirect measure of BF volume are able to predict the efficacy of Donepezil in patients with AD.^{16,71} This further supports the theory, that BF volume can predict cortical AChE activity and thus, the efficacy of pharmacotherapy in MCI due to AD patients. In contrast, a previous study with MCI due to AD patients demonstrated that neither the volume of the hippocampus nor the BF volume were able to predict the response to Donepezil.⁷² These contradictory results may be explained by the burden and presence of non-Alzheimer's pathologies, which increase with age.^{50,54}

Within M the study found a significant association between the GM volume of the Ch1/Ch2 region of the NBM and the cholinergic deficit.⁵⁴ At first sight, this finding may be counterintuitive. However, previous histopathological studies have shown that septal cholinergic cell bodies are mostly preserved in early staged of AD.⁴⁸ Butler and colleagues have even demonstrated a larger volume in the Ch1/Ch2 area in cognitively healthy individuals that were to develop MCI in the following years, compared to cognitively healthy individuals that showed no changes in cognition.¹¹ Therefore, the positive correlation between Ch1/Ch2 GM volume and the cholinergic deficit may be a consequence of a compensatory hypertrophy.

The prepublished paper to this study (Richter et. al. 2022) further examines the role that age at disease onset plays in association between Ch1/2 volume and cholinergic deficit.⁵⁴ The

42

patients were divided into an early-onset and a late-onset MCI group. The early-onset subgroup had a larger cholinergic deficit than late-onset MCI patients.⁵⁴ This further suggests the necessity of including age in future studies.

6.2 Discussion of the Methods

In this study, the MACS data set was used which incorporated two imaging techniques MRI and PET. The GM volume was analysed using VBM, which requires high resolution T1 images. These are comparable to the images used in standard clinical setting. This means, the technique for analysing GM volume is not only operable in research settings, but can be implemented in a regular clinical setting, maybe even as a standard procedure.

One could argue that the volume of the subregions of the BF are too small to be assessed correctly using VBM. This seems unlikely since it has been demonstrated that the volumes in the Ch1/2 region generated by VBM correlate well with results from manually tracing the region.¹² See the prepublished paper (Richter et al. 2022) where the same protocol was used to manually trace the Ch1/2 region.⁵⁴ Similar results were found to the VBM method.⁵⁴ When considering these factors, using the Ch1/2 volume as a predictor for the cholinergic deficit seems promising. This technique could then help predict the efficacy of pharmacological treatment.

Something to keep in mind is that AChE activity may not fully capture the degeneration of the cholinergic system in AD.⁵⁴ Even though previous studies have shown a greater response to rivastigmine in patients with lower AChE activity, it must must not be forgotten that AChE is only one of many biomarkers of the cholinergic neurotransmission system.⁵² Literature suggests that other markers, such as nicotinic ACh receptors are also reduced in MCI due to AD patients.³⁰

Neurofibrillary degeneration plays an important role in the NBM, especially during the earlier stages of the disease.^{44,57} Neurofibrillary degeneration is not necessarily reflected in loss of GM. This may help to explain why none of the GM volumes in the BF nuclei ROIs correlated with the cortical AChE activity. Thus, in future studies, we may have to focus on and try to further understand the role that neurofibrillary degeneration may play.⁵³

The MP4a PET imaging data which was acquired for the MACS study is costly and requires time, equipment that is currently found mainly in specialized centers. Thus, the method of finding the individual cholinergic deficit is not yet ready to be implemented as a clinical routine.

As suggested above, in the future it could become an option for developing an individual pharmacotherapy option for each patient, designed for their cholinergic needs.

7. References

- Albert MS, DeKosky ST, Dickson D, *et al.* The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2011; 7: 270–9.
- Ashburner J. A fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. *NeuroImage* 2007; 38: 95–113.
- 3. Bartus RT, Dean RL, Beer B, Lippa AS. The cholinergic hypothesis of geriatric memory dysfunction. *Science* 1982; **217**: 408–14.
- Beck AT. An inventory for Measuring depression. Archives of General Psychiatry 1961; 4: 561–71.
- Bharthur Sanjay A, Patania A, Yan X, et al. Characterization of gene expression patterns in mild cognitive impairment using a transcriptomics approach and neuroimaging endophenotypes. *Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association* 2022; **18**: 2493–508.
- Birks JS. Cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer's disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006; 2016. DOI:10.1002/14651858.cd005593.
- 7. Birks J, Flicker L. Donepezil for mild cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006. DOI:10.1002/14651858.cd006104.
- 8. Breijyeh Z, Karaman R. Comprehensive Review on Alzheimer's disease: Causes and Treatment. *Molecules* 2020; **25**: 5789.
- Brueggen K, Dyrba M, Barkhof F, *et al.* Basal forebrain and hippocampus as predictors of conversion to Alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment – a multicenter DTI and volumetry study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2015; **48**: 197– 204.
- Buckner RL, Synder A, Shannon B, *et al.* Molecular, structural, and functional characterization of Alzheimer's disease: Evidence for a relationship between default activity, amyloid, and memory. *Journal of Neuroscience* 2005; 25: 7709–17.
- Butler T, Harvey P, Deshpande A, *et al.* Basal forebrain septal nuclei are enlarged in healthy subjects prior to the development of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging* 2018; **65**: 201–5.
- Butler T, Zaborszky L, Pirraglia E, *et al.* Comparison of human septal nuclei MRI measurements using automated segmentation and a new manual protocol based on histology. *NeuroImage* 2014; **97**: 245–51.

- Colovic MB, Krstic DZ, Lazarevic-Pasti TD, Bondzic AM, Vasic VM. Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Pharmacology and toxicology. *Current Neuropharmacology* 2013; **11**: 315–35.
- 14. Corwin J, Bylsma FW. Psychological examination of traumatic encephalopathy. *Clinical Neuropsychologist* 1993; **7**: 3–21.
- Crook TH, Feher EP, Larrabee GJ. Assessment of memory complaint in age-Associated Memory Impairment: The mac-Q. *International Psychogeriatrics* 1992; 4: 165–76.
- Csernansky JG, Wang L, Miller JP, Galvin JE, Morris JC. Neuroanatomical predictors of response to donepezil therapy in patients with dementia. *Archives of Neurology* 2005; **62**: 1718–22.
- 17. Davies P, Maloney AJ. Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet* 1976; **308**: 1403.
- Eickhoff SB, Stephan KE, Mohlberg H, *et al.* A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. *NeuroImage* 2005; **25**: 1325–35.
- Erzigkeit H, Lehfeld H, Peña-Casanova J, *et al.* The Bayer-activities of Daily Living Scale (B-ADL): Results from a validation study in three European countries. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 2001; **12**: 348–58.
- 20. Fastenau PS, Denburg NL, Hufford BJ. Adult norms for the Rey-Osterrieth complex figure test and for supplemental recognition and matching trials from the extended complex figure test. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist* 1999; **13**: 30–47.
- 21. FMRIB software library V6.0. FSL. https://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/fslwiki (accessed Jan 26, 2023).
- 22. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state." *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 1975; **12**: 189–98.
- Gaser C, Dahnke R, Thompson PM, Kurth F, Luders E. CAT a computational anatomy toolbox for the analysis of structural MRI Data. *Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative* 2022. DOI:10.1101/2022.06.11.495736.
- 24. Geula C, Dunlop SR, Ayala I, *et al.* Basal forebrain cholinergic system in the Dementias: Vulnerability, resilience, and resistance. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 2021; **158**: 1394–411.
- 25. Giacobini E, Cuello AC, Fisher A. Reimagining cholinergic therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2022; **145**: 2250–75.
- 26. Grothe M, Heinsen H, Teipel SJ. Atrophy of the cholinergic basal forebrain over the adult age range and in early stages of Alzheimer's disease. *Biological Psychiatry* 2012; **71**: 805–13.

- 27. Grothe M, Zaborszky L, Atienza M, *et al.* Reduction of basal forebrain cholinergic system parallels cognitive impairment in patients at high risk of developing Alzheimer's disease. *Cerebral Cortex* 2010; **20**: 1685–95.
- Grothe MJ, Heinsen H, Edson AJ, Grinberg LT, Teipel SJ. Cognitive correlates of basal forebrain atrophy and associated cortical hypometabolism in mild cognitive impairment. *Cerebral Cortex* 2015; **26**: 2411–26.
- 29. Grothe MJ, Schuster C, Bauer F, Heinsen H, Prudlo J, Teipel SJ. Atrophy of the cholinergic basal forebrain in dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer's disease dementia. *Journal of Neurology* 2014; **261**: 1939–48.
- 30. Haense C, Kalbe E, Herholz K, *et al.* Cholinergic system function and cognition in mild cognitive impairment. *Neurobiology of Aging* 2012; **33**: 867–77.
- 31. Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S. VLMT: Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest. Göttingen, Germany: Beltz Test, 2001.
- 32. Herholz K, Bauer B, Wienhard K, *et al.* In-vivo measurements of regional acetylcholine esterase activity in degenerative dementia: Comparison with blood flow and glucose metabolism. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 2000; **107**: 1457–68.
- 33. Herholz K, Weisenbach S, Zündorf G, et al. In vivo study of acetylcholine esterase in basal forebrain, amygdala, and cortex in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. *NeuroImage* 2004; 21: 136–43.
- Hindmarch I, Lehfeld H, de Jongh P, Erzigkeit H. The Bayer activities of daily living scale (B-ADL). *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 1998; 9: 20–6.
- 35. Horn A. About the mni space(s). Lead. https://www.lead-dbs.org/about-the-mni-spaces/ (accessed July 11, 2023).
- 36. Horn W. Leistungsprüfsystem (LPS). Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe, 1983.
- Kilimann I, Grothe M, Heinsen H, *et al.* Subregional basal forebrain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease: A multicenter study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2014; **40**: 687–700.
- Lahiri D, Rogers J, Greig N, Sambamurti K. Rationale for the development of cholinesterase inhibitors as anti- Alzheimer agents. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 2004; **10**: 3111–9.
- 39. Langa KM, Levine DA. The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment. *JAMA* 2014; **312**: 2551.
- 40. Lezak MD, Howieson DB, Loring DW, Hannay HJ, Fischer JS. Neuropsychological assessment. 4th edition. New York, United States of America: Oxford University Press, 2004.

- 41. Liu AK, Chang RC-C, Pearce RK, Gentleman SM. Nucleus basalis of Meynert Revisited: Anatomy, history and differential involvement in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathologica* 2015; **129**: 527–40.
- 42. Mesulam M-M, Geula C. Nucleus basalis (CH4) and cortical cholinergic innervation in the human brain: Observations based on the distribution of acetylcholinesterase and choline acetyltransferase. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 1988; **275**: 216–40.
- 43. Mesulam M-M, Mufson EJ, Levey AI, Wainer BH. Cholinergic innervation of cortex by the basal forebrain: Cytochemistry and cortical connections of the septal area, diagonal band nuclei, nucleus basalis (substantia innominata), and hypothalamus in the rhesus monkey. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 1983; **214**: 170–97.
- 44. Mesulam M. The cholinergic lesion of Alzheimer's disease: Pivotal factor or side show? *Learning & Memory* 2004; **11**: 43–9.
- 45. Meynert T. The brain of mammals. A manual of histology (1872): 650-766. New York, United States of America: W. Wood & company, 1872.
- 46. Michalowsky B, Kaczynski A, Hoffmann W. Ökonomische und gesellschaftliche Herausforderungen der Demenz in Deutschland eine Metaanalyse. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz* 2019; 62: 981–92.
- Mitchell AJ, Shiri-Feshki M. Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia - meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2009; **119**: 252–65.
- Mufson EJ, Bothwell M, Kordower JH. Loss of nerve growth factor receptor-containing neurons in Alzheimer's disease: A quantitative analysis across subregions of the basal forebrain. *Experimental Neurology* 1989; **105**: 221–32.
- 49. Namba H, Fukushi K, Nagatsuka S, *et al.* Positron Emission Tomography: Quantitative measurement of brain acetylcholinesterase activity using radiolabeled substrates. *Methods* 2002; **27**: 242–50.
- 50. Nelson PT, Dickson DW, Trojanowski JQ, *et al.* Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (late): Consensus Working Group Report. *Brain* 2019; **142**: 1503–27.
- 51. Ota T, Shinotoh H, Fukushi K, et al. A simple method for the detection of abnormal brain regions in Alzheimer's disease patients using [11C]MP4A: Comparison with [123i]IMP SPECT. Annals of Nuclear Medicine 2004; 18: 187–93.
- 52. Richter N, Beckers N, Onur OA, *et al.* Effect of cholinergic treatment depends on cholinergic integrity in early Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2018; **141**: 903–15.

- 53. Richter N, Bischof GN, Dronse J, *et al.* Entorhinal Tau predicts hippocampal activation and memory deficits in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2020; **78**: 1601–14.
- 54. Richter N, David L-S, Grothe MJ, *et al.* Age and anterior basal forebrain volume predict the cholinergic deficit in patients with mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2022; **86**: 425–40.
- 55. Richter N, Michel A, Onur OA, *et al.* White matter lesions and the cholinergic deficit in aging and mild cognitive impairment. *Neurobiology of Aging* 2017; **53**: 27–35.
- 56. Richter N, Nellessen N, Dronse J, *et al.* Spatial distributions of cholinergic impairment and neuronal hypometabolism differ in MCI due to AD. *NeuroImage: Clinical* 2019; **24**: 101978.
- 57. Sassin I, Schultz C, Thal DR, *et al.* Evolution of Alzheimer's disease-related cytoskeletal changes in the basal nucleus of Meynert. *Acta Neuropathologica* 2000; **100**: 259–69.
- 58. Saß A-C, Prütz F, Seeling S, et al. Welche Auswirkungen hat der demografische Wandel auf Gesundheit und Gesundheitsversorgung? In: Lampert T, ed. Gesundheit in Deutschland. Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes. Gemeinsam getragen von RKI und Destatis. Berlin, Germany: Robert Koch-Institut, 2015: 432–55.
- Scheef L, Grothe MJ, Koppara A, *et al.* Subregional volume reduction of the cholinergic forebrain in subjective cognitive decline (SCD). *NeuroImage: Clinical* 2019; 21: 101612.
- 60. Scheltens P, Blennow K, Breteler MM, *et al.* Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet* 2016; **388**: 505–17.
- Schliebs R, Arendt T. The significance of the cholinergic system in the brain during aging and in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 2006; **113**: 1625–44.
- 62. Schmitt M, Altstötter-Gleich C, Hinz A, Maes J, Brähler E. Normwerte für das vereinfachte Beck-Depressions-Inventar (BDI-V) in der Allgemeinbevölkerung. *Diagnostica* 2006; **52**: 51–9.
- 63. Schmitz TW, Nathan Spreng R, Weiner MW, *et al.* Basal forebrain degeneration precedes and predicts the cortical spread of Alzheimer's pathology. *Nature Communications* 2016; **7**: 13249.
- 64. Schretlen D, Bobholz JH, Brandt J. Development and psychometric properties of the brief test of attention. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist* 1996; **10**: 80–9.
- 65. Shapiro SS, Wilk MB. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). *Biometrika* 1965; **52**: 591–611.

- 66. Shinotoh H, Namba H, Fukushi K, et al. Progressive loss of cortical acetylcholinesterase activity in association with cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease: A positron emission tomography study. Annals of Neurology 2000; 48: 194–200.
- 67. Španić E, Langer Horvat L, Hof PR, Šimić G. Role of microglial cells in Alzheimer's disease tau propagation. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* 2019; **11**. DOI:10.3389/fnagi.2019.00271.
- SPM12 software statistical parametric mapping. Wellcome Centre for Human Neuroimaging. 2023. https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/ (accessed July 11, 2023).
- 69. Statistisches Bundesamt. Life expectancy rising only slowly. Federal Statistical Office.
 2019; published online Nov 5. https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2019/11/PE18_427_12621.html;jsessionid=1C6FA 2C7262757DBCE0E62ACAEB6E17A.internet712 (accessed Jan 26, 2023).
- 70. Tahami Monfared AA, Byrnes MJ, White LA, Zhang Q. Alzheimer's disease: Epidemiology and clinical progression. *Neurology and Therapy* 2022; **11**: 553–69.
- 71. Tanaka Y, Hanyu H, Sakurai H, Takasaki M, Abe K. Atrophy of the substantia innominata on magnetic resonance imaging predicts response to Donepezil treatment in Alzheimer's disease patients. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 2003; 16: 119–25.
- 72. Teipel SJ, Cavedo E, Hampel H, Grothe MJ. Basal forebrain volume, but not hippocampal volume, is a predictor of global cognitive decline in patients with Alzheimer's disease treated with cholinesterase inhibitors. *Frontiers in Neurology*2018; **9**. DOI:10.3389/fneur.2018.00642.
- 73. Teipel SJ, Flatz WH, Heinsen H, *et al.* Measurement of basal forebrain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease using MRI. *Brain* 2005; **128**: 2626–44.
- 74. Tombaugh T. Trail making test A and B: Normative data stratified by age and education. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology* 2004; **19**: 203–14.
- 75. Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Struble RG, Clark AW, Coyle JT, DeLong MR. Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: Loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. *Science* 1982; **215**: 1237–9.
- 76. Zaborszky L, Hoemke L, Mohlberg H, Schleicher A, Amunts K, Zilles K. Stereotaxic probabilistic maps of the magnocellular cell groups in human basal forebrain. *NeuroImage* 2008; **42**: 1127–41.

8. Appendix

8.1 List of Figures

Figure	Name	Page
		Number
1	Projected innervation map of the different Ch4 regions	17
	(taken from Liu et al.). ⁴¹ Based on the findings of Mesulam	
	et al., 1983 and 1988). ^{42,43}	
2	Chemical structure of [¹¹ C]MP4A. ⁴⁹	25
3	Group differences in GM volume	30
4	Significant group differences (red) in GM volume within the	31
	entire BF (blue) mask	
5	Group differences in AChE activity	33
6	Significant areas where the GM volume from atrophic parts	34
	of Ch4p correlates with cortical k3	
7	Representative examples of the "cholinergic deficit" in the M	37
	group	
8	Graph showing the correlation between the cholinergic	39
	deficit (number of voxels with Z < -2, shown on y-axis) and	
	the GM volume in Ch1/2 (shown on x-axis).	

8.2 List of Tables

Table	Name	Page
		Number
1	Standard values of the neuropsychological tests	24
2	Demographic characteristics of the study population	29
3	Neuropsychological testing results	30
4	Group differences in GM volume	32
5	Group differences in AChE activity	32
6	Results of the correlation between GM volume of the BF and cortical k3	34
7	Results of the correlation between the GM volume of subregions of the BF and the cortical k3	36
8	Correlation between the cholinergic deficit and the GM volume of the NBM	38
9	Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of C and GM volume of the NBM	38
10	Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of M and GM volume of the NBM	38
11	Correlation between the cholinergic deficit of the M group and different neuropsychological tests	40

9. Vorabveröffentlichungen von Ergebnissen

Mit Einverständnis des Betreuers, Prof. Dr. med. Juraj Kukolja, wurde vorab folgendes Paper veröffentlicht:

 Richter N, David L-S, Grothe MJ, *et al.* Age and anterior basal forebrain volume predict the cholinergic deficit in patients with mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2022; 86: 425– 40.